IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SIDL WHITE 9/25

AUG 30 1995

CVERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO 84,495 [TFB Case No 94-31,375 (09E)

v.

HAROLD G. UHRIG,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

HAL UHRIG, ESQUIRE

1099 West Morse Blvd

Suite 1000

Winter Park, Florida 32789

(407) 628-1200

Fla Bar # 196256

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, Harold G. Uhrig, was the Respondent before the Referee proceeding and the Appellee is The Florida Bar. In the Appellant's brief the Appellant will be referred to as "appellant," or "Respondent." Appellee will be referred to as "appellee." "The Bar," or The Florida Bar." References to the record on appeal will be to the individual exhibits, documents and transcripts of proceedings that make up the record on appeal. The documents referenced are either the transcripts of the two hearings before the Referee, one on December 19, 1994 and one on February 16, 1995, or the Exhibits of The Bar, stipulated to before the Referee on February 16, 1995. They will be identified and referred to by page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In February of 1994, Maritza Torres, former wife of Carlos Carrera, M.D. came to see the Respondent. She complained of actions by her former husband with regard to the payment of child support obligations, inappropriate communications with the minor children of the parties, and communications with her that she found offensive. (These letters are attached to the VERIFIED PETITION TO DOMESTICATE FOREIGN JUDGMENT AND TO MODIFY JUDGMENT OF DIVORCE NISI", which is included in the record on appeal as Bar Exhibit 7.) Since neither party continued to reside in the State of Massachusetts, the state that had rendered the decree, she had asked that the judgment be domesticated in Florida, her home state and the home state of the children, and that the judgment be modified and enforced. At the time, Respondent had available to him not only a lengthy sworn deposition previously given by Dr. Carrera, but also previous involvement in the original dissolution of marriage, and the family history.

In response to this information, Respondent authored a letter, dated March 7, 1994 (in the record as Bar Exhibit 4), directed to Dr. Carrera. There was no evidence that this letter was not posted to Dr. Carrera, prior to March 23, 1994, when a copy may have been delivered to him, together with the above referenced petition to domesticate and modify. Prior litigation concerning the marriage of these parties had been confined to the state of Massachusetts. Florida had **never** had personal jurisdiction over Dr. Carrera, and he had **never** resided in the State of Florida. No litigation was pending in the State of Massachusetts in 1994. When the letter was drafted, no action had been filed in this or any other state. There was no evidence that any litigation was filed prior to the letter being posted to Dr. Carrera. When it was sent, it is uncontroverted that he had not yet submitted

himself to the jurisdiction of the Florida Courts. Respondent contends that Dr. Carrera had not yet become a "litigant" against Mrs. Torres, in the Florida action, at the time of the conduct complained of by The Florida Bar.

The contents of this letter speak for themselves, and it is the construction of Rule 4-8.4(d), Rules of Professional Conduct, and the application of that construction to this piece of correspondence that lies at the heart of this disciplinary action. The Florida Bar contends that the above Rule proscribes conduct by a member of The Bar, which, in connection with the practice of law, "humiliates," "disparages" or "discriminates" against a class of persons described within the Rule, "on any basis." Respondent contends that Dr. Carrera was not a member of the class described by the Rule on the date that the letter was drafted, and further that the Rule does not proscribe the conduct "on any basis." but rather on the basis of those criteria listed within the Rule, and on any other similar basis, discernable by reference to the categories listed within the Rule. Respondent claims that the rule of ejusdem generis must be applied to the construction of this rule in order to avoid an absurd result.

On October 13, 1994, Stephen Grimes, Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court signed an untitled instrument, designating The Honorable Randall G. McDonald, Chief Judge of the Tenth Judicial Circuit, to appoint a Referee to preside over the instant disciplinary action. On October 17, 1994, Chief Judge McDonald sent a letter to Sid White, as Clerk of the Florida Supreme Court, assigning Judge J. Tim Strickland as the Referee in this case. On October 18, 1994, the Respondent filed a pleading styled as a Motion to Dismiss, challenging the appointment of Judge Strickland on jurisdictional and venue grounds, and asked for the case to be reassigned in accord with the Rules of Discipline. That Motion was heard by Judge Strickland on December 19, 1994, and the Motion was

denied. The point was preserved for appeal at that hearing and the transcript of that proceeding was filed with the Referee, and made a part of the record on appeal.

Respondent set a Second Motion To Dismiss And For Judgment On The Pleadings, for hearing before the Referee on February 16, 1995. At that hearing, the parties stipulated to the entire factual basis for the trial and stipulated that the Referee should make his determination based upon the stipulations and the record agreed to on February 16, 1995.

STIPULATIONS:

. 3° 6° 6

Before the Referee, the Respondent, in an effort to avoid an apparently unnecessary evidentiary hearing, relieved the counsel for The Bar of his evidentiary burden of going forward, as to a number of specific points. [See transcript of proceedings of February 16, 1995, pages 35-43.] It was stipulated that:

- 1. Respondent sent the letter dated March 7, 1994 to Dr. Carrera.
- 2. Dr. Carrera received the letter.
- 3. Dr. Carrera felt disparaged or humiliated by the letter.
- 4. Respondent was familiar with the text of Rule 4-8.4(d), Rules of Professional Conduct, as amended and in effect on March 7, 1994.
- 5. The Exhibits previously identified by counsel for The Bar would be admitted into evidence, without predicate and without objection. [transcript of February 16, 1995, pages 41-43.] This applied to Bar Exhibits One (1) through Seven (7).

WAIVER:

After the parties stipulated to the above facts, and the admission into evidence of The Bar's seven Exhibits, the evidence was closed, and the Referee set the times within which the parties were

to provide their closing memoranda and arguments. At page 43 of the transcript of the February 16, 1995 hearing, after the Bar's seven Exhibits, Bar counsel said, beginning at line 13,

"And those are the exhibits that were considered by the Referee today.

Is that list complete and correct, as far as you can determine?"

Respondent replied at line 18, "I think that will work."

Bar counsel concluded at line 19, "Okay. And that's the end."

Unfortunately, that was not the end. In "THE FLORIDA BAR ARGUMENTS IN SUPPORT OF ITS CASE AGAINST THE RESPONDENT AND RECOMMENDATION FOR DISCIPLINE," counsel for The Bar, without leave of the Referee, without consent of the Respondent, and without legal authority to do so, attached and made reference to four (4) additional Exhibits. Respondent, in his "RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENTS IN SUPPORT OF HIS POSITION IN DEFENSE OF THE COMPLAINT BY THE FLORIDA BAR", waived objection to unauthorized Exhibits, numbered eight (8), nine (9) and eleven (11). Use of Exhibit ten (10) was not waived.

OBJECTION:

Respondent preserved his objection to Bar Exhibit 10, an exhibit created after the close of the evidence, and bolstered by other documents not produced at the hearing before the Referee. These documents were offered as proof of the date that Dr. Carrera received the offending letter, and were argued as evidence that he was therefore a "litigant" at the time of the alleged offensive conduct by the Respondent. It is clear that the Referee's report relied upon this Exhibit 10, and the argument directed to it, in reaching the finding as to the date of delivery. Clearly, this finding that Dr. Carrera was a "litigant" was reached as a result of this inadmissible exhibit. Consideration of Bar Exhibit 10 by the Referee constituted a clear denial of procedural due process. This "evidence" would

have been inadmissible at a hearing, where an objection might have been ruled upon. It remained inadmissible when submitted after the hearing, as a part of The Bar's "argument." It was not subject to cross-examination, voir dire, challenge or rebuttal. It served as the foundation for the Referee's conclusion that Dr. Carrera had been brought within the ambit of a "litigant," and thus within the class of persons intended to be protected by the Rule. Even though the Referee impermissibly expanded the Rule to include "party/potential litigants," his conclusion that Dr. Carrera was served for the first time with the letter on March 24, 1994, together with the pleadings in the domestic case clearly provided support for his conclusion that the Dr. was a "litigant." This issue, decided properly, would have been dispositive in favor of Respondent.

SUMMARY:

Almost all of the relevant and material facts in this case are the subject of stipulation, and are not in dispute. Findings #1, #2, #3, and #5 in the Report of Referee were facts agreed upon by the parties. Finding #4 was arrived at in part by reference to Bar Exhibit 10, to which Respondent objects. The objection is that to the extent that the Referee's finding suggests that the letter was first delivered to Dr. Carrera on March 24, 1994, along with the Summons, that distinction appears to have influenced the Referee to conclude that Dr. Carrera was a "litigant," and therefore a member of the class described within the rule. The first of the two issues identified by the Referee for resolution is this issue of membership in the class. According to the Referee, this issue is to be determined by whether or not Dr. Carrera was a "litigant" at the time of the complained of conduct. This is a mixed question of law and fact. While the determination by the Referee as to factual matters should be afforded the presumption of correctness, Respondent respectfully submits that such is not the case as to the questions of law. The law is the law, and the Supreme Court is certainly free to

declare the law, unfettered by any presumptions to the contrary. The Referee observed that, "considering the ongoing nature of family law proceedings, he was always a party/potential litigant. As such, he would further be deemed a member of the class contemplated by the Rule." The Rule makes no mention of "party/potential litigants," or other actors within our legal system beyond the specific list afforded by the Rule. The Court should apply the rules of construction to this Rule, and declare that the Rule means exactly what it says, not what the Referee would "deem" it to mean.

The other issue before the Court is far more substantive as it relates to future conduct by the Respondent and other members of the Bar who may take instruction from the ruling in this case. This is, in fact, a case where The Bar is seeking to use this Rule to enforce "political correctness." The construction and application of the term "on any basis," will determine whether members of The Bar are foreclosed from what would otherwise be their First Amendment right to make derogatory comment based upon conduct that they find to be approbate. An attorney member of the Florida Bar has the right to be direct, rude or sarcastic in his or her expression of ideas or observations about others, when the observation is directed to their conduct or attitude, rather than to a status or characteristic such as religion, ethnicity, race, disability, physical characteristics, gender, etc. If The Florida Supreme Court finds that the phrase "on any basis" really means "on every basis," then we will need new rules to permit prosecutors to inform juries of conduct by criminal defendants. Certainly, it "disparages" a criminal defendant to tell people about the bad things he is alleged to have done. The execution of an Information or an Indictment is conduct within the practice of law, that will disparage or humiliate a "litigant". The tort attorney attempting to influence a jury with information concerning a defendant "litigant's" intentional or negligent conduct will most surely "disparage" the defendant/"litigant," if the attorney does his or her job. The family lawyer who seeks an injunction on behalf of an abused spouse and/or the spouse's children will surely "disparage" the offending spouse. When counsel for The Florida Bar files a complaint against a member of The Bar for alleged misconduct, the allegations in that complaint surely "disparage" the member. A Referee's report, finding a member guilty of misconduct is an action taken by the Referee in connection with the practice of law, that disparages a member who is a litigant in the disciplinary action. A sentencing judge in a capital murder case, explaining the reasons for imposing a death sentence, will, of necessity, disparage the convicted litigant, making reference to his past conduct. If Rule 4-8.4(d) really means "on any basis," then we cannot square the obligations of lawyers to effectively discharge their responsibilities, with a mandate to be "politically correct," to be "nice," to be "professional," to be "unoffensive," and to avoid disparagement. The Bar will need a "Standing Committee on Analogies and Adjectives" to which members of The Bar may submit, in advance, their proposed comments, intended to be delivered either orally or by written instrument.

The Referee found that the correspondence was not directed to settlement of the issues, but was rather directed in its length and breadth singularly to the embarrassment, humiliation and disparagement of Dr. Carrera. The Rule does not provide that if it is directed to "settlement," that conduct, otherwise humiliating or disparaging, is then excused. The Rule is silent as to conduct that is directed to the "embarrassment" of an individual. If the Rule is intended to restrict the exercise of First Amendment rights of members of The Florida Bar so as to improve their public image, to require them to be mindful of the Queen's English, and to be courteous in all situations, then it ought not to restrict that only to the players in a litigation setting. If it is directed to conduct "prejudicial to the administration of justice," then the Rule is properly directed to status and characteristic

oriented classifications, like those listed as examples within the Rule. That will ensure that all classes of people can expect to be treated with equal respect and dignity before the Court. Respondent submits that letters directed singularly to individuals, not generally published, directed to their past conduct and attitudes, whether disparaging, humiliating or otherwise, appear to be of a genre' not contemplated by the Rule. The Bar and the Referee are in apparent agreement that no communication, directed to anyone who remains potentially a litigant, or potentially another litigation actor (juror, etc.), may disparage that person, on any basis whatsoever, including their misconduct, without running afoul of Rule 4-8.4(d). Respondent asserts that this was not the intention of The Florida Supreme Court in its promulgation of this Rule. This Court is in the unique position to declare the intent of this Rule, notwithstanding the interpretations offered by either the Respondent or The Bar, and without affording any presumption of correctness to the construction adopted by the Referee.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee committed fundamental error in denying Respondent's first motion to dismiss. The Referee was not properly appointed and was without jurisdiction to preside in this case. The Referee further denied the Respondent constitutional procedural due process by ignoring Respondent's objection to an evidentiary exhibit, created and filed with The Bar's argument after the close of the evidence, under circumstances where the Respondent was denied the opportunity to cross-examine, voir dire, challenge or rebut the improper supplementation of the evidence. The Referee erred in his interpretation of Rule 4-8.4(d) by impermissibly expanding the class of persons intended to be protected by the Rule and by misconstruing the term "on any basis," to mean on every basis, without application of the rule of ejusdem generis.

Point 1:

The Referee erred in denying Respondent's first motion to dismiss. The Chief Justice was not empowered by Rule 3-7.6(a) to delegate to the Chief Judge of the Tenth Judicial Circuit the power to appoint a Circuit Judge from that circuit, to preside over a disciplinary action **outside** the Chief Judge's circuit. Venue in this case is situate in Orange County, Florida, in the Ninth Judicial Circuit. The Referee misconstrued the above Rule in order to avoid offending the Chief Justice.

Point 2:

The Referee violated Respondent's constitutional rights of procedural due process. The Referee had insisted that "all of the evidence that would be produced at a hearing is stipulated before the Court today" [Transcript of February 16, 1995 proceedings, page 35, lines 24-25], and had warned that he did not want later, to "have some Court rule that it wasn't properly admitted or a

certain item was not before the Court properly for consideration" [Transcript of February 16, 1995 at page 36, lines 6-8]. He nevertheless based part of his findings on Bar Exhibit 10, to which Respondent had strongly objected [See RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF HIS POSITION IN DEFENSE OF THE COMPLAINT OF THE FLORIDA BAR, pages 1-6]. The Referee's finding #4 specifically cites to Bar Exhibit 10 as part of the basis for that finding [page 2 of Report of Referee].

Point 3:

The Referee impermissibly expanded the application of the Rule to include not only "litigants" but also "party/potential litigants." The determination that Dr. Carrera was a member of the class sought to be protected by the Rule was based in part upon the Referee's improper consideration of the objectionable material in Exhibit 10, and in part by a blatant misconstruction of the plain meaning of the Rule, which mentions neither "parties" nor "potential litigants."

Point 4:

The Referee impermissibly expanded the classes of status or characteristics sought to be protected by the Rule by finding that the term "on any basis" really meant "on every basis." Rules, like statutes, should be construed by first affording the words their plain and ordinary meaning, unless the words are defined in the statute (or rule). Unless the rule of construction of ejusdem generis is applied, and reference made to the categories listed in the Rule, an absurd result will obtain. The Referee interpreted the Rule so as to rewrite it, and to expand its application, exceeding his authority as Referee.

ARGUMENT

Point 1:

The Referee erred in the denial of Respondent's first Motion To Dismiss. The Chief Justice was without authority, under Rule 3-7.6, Rules of Discipline, to delegate to a Chief Judge of a circuit the power to appoint a Referee, for duty outside his circuit, in a Bar disciplinary proceeding.

On December 19, 1994, a hearing was held before Referee Judge J. Tim Strickland, raising the jurisdiction and venue issues. Respondent took and continues to take the position that the appointment of Judge Strickland was not in compliance with Rule 3-7.6 of the Rules of Discipline. Respondent asks this Court to review pages 1 through 35 of the transcript of that hearing. The argument of The Bar is basically that "we've always done it this way," [see December 19, 1994 transcript, page 11, lines 13-21]. The Referee expresses his "concern" is that "the chief justice himself, in signing the order, cites Rule 3-7.6(a) as his authority, and he himself has chosen the terminology that Chief Judge Randall McDonald is designated to appoint a referee for the court in the above manner," [see December 19, 1994 transcript, page 19, lines 5-11]. He is concerned about offending the Chief Justice by ruling that the appointment was outside the procedure prescribed by the Rule. The Referee noted at page 15, lines 15-17, that, "I think on the surface without reflection that Mr. Uhrig's position sounds correct." Having said that, he goes on to torture the intent of the rule so as to justify the action taken by the Chief Justice. Respondent believes that the argument presented to the Referee on December 19, 1994 with regard to this point is correct

as a matter of law. Respondent relies upon the argument made at that hearing and asks this Court to find that the Referee was improperly appointed and was without jurisdiction to hear this matter.

Point 2:

The Referee erred in relying upon Bar Exhibit 10, attached to The Bar's final written memorandum, as this was an unauthorized and improper augmentation of the record, where the evidence was closed, and there was no opportunity to cross examine or contest the information contained therein. Respondent was denied his constitutional rights of due process and confrontation by Bar counsel and the Referee.

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