OMFILED

SEP & 1995

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR ,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

Complainant,

Case No. 84,495
[TFB Case No.94-31,375(09E)]

v.

HAROLD G. UHRIG,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

CARLOS E. TORRES
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424
ATTORNEY NO. 939455

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On February 22, 1994, the respondent received a notice of no probable cause and letter of advice from the chair of the Ninth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "E" concerning a letter he had written that, in the committee's opinion, contained unnecessarily hostile and demeaning language directed toward the opposing party in a legal matter (B-Ex. 1 A.p. 4). Therefore, at the time the respondent wrote to Dr. Carlos Carrera (B-Ex. 4 A.p. 8), he was on notice that similar such conduct would not be tolerated by the bar. Yet he wrote Dr. Carrera a letter he admitted was disparaging, offensive and humiliating (T. 2/16/95 p.p. 10-11). The respondent now seeks to justify his conduct by attacking the validity of rule 4-8.4(d). He also argues the referee abused his discretion in denying his first motion to dismiss and in considering B-Ex. 10, the referee was not properly appointed and Dr. Carrera was not among the class of persons protected by rule 4-8.4(d). submits the respondent's various arguments are without merit.

The respondent offers no evidence to show the referee abused his discretion in denying the first motion to dismiss and in considering B-Ex. 10. No final hearing was held and the parties submitted their evidence with their written closing arguments. The

parties stipulated to what evidence was available at the time of the February 16, 1995, motion hearing. Some of the bar's evidence was not available at that time because the bar intended to call witnesses and B-Ex. 10 contained information not known to the bar at the time of said motion hearing.

The bar submits the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar clearly authorize this court to delegate its authority to appoint a referee to a chief judge of a judicial circuit and the only restriction is that the final hearing must be held where venue rests unless the accused attorney waives it. At any rate, the respondent's argument is moot because no final hearing was held and he effectively waived venue at the February 16, 1995, hearing (T. 12/19/94 p.p. 42-43).

The referee's legal conclusion that Dr. Carrera was a litigant and thus was protected by the rule was correct and supported by the evidence. He was both an actual litigant because the letter was served on him with the summons and he was also a litigant in the sense that the Massachusetts court continued to exercise jurisdiction over him in the domestic relations matter. The petition filed by the respondent was connected to the original dissolution action.

The respondent has not shown that rule 4-8.4(d) is in any way unconstitutional or vague. The proscription applies only to conduct in connection with the practice of law where an attorney's actions are disparaging, humiliating, or discriminating toward persons connected with the legal action "on any basis, including, but not limited to, on account of race, ethnicity, gender, religion, national origin, marital status, sexual orientation, age, socioeconomic status, employment, or physical characteristic," (emphasis added). The clear meaning of the rule is to prohibit behavior that amounts to "school yard bullying."

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE REFEREE CORRECTLY EXERCISED HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE RESPONDENT'S FIRST MOTION TO DISMISS AND THE REFEREE WAS PROPERLY APPOINTED.

The respondent served his first motion to dismiss on October 18, 1994, which, although not properly and timely filed, was considered by the referee at a hearing on December 19, 1994. The motion challenged the jurisdiction of the referee and venue. The referee denied the motion. The referee has the authority to exercise his or her sound discretion in ruling on motions, The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 520 So. 2d 564 (Fla. 1988). The bar submits the respondent has failed to show the referee abused his discretion in any way with respect to denying the respondent's first motion to dismiss.

Further, the respondent misinterprets rule 3-7.6(a) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and his reliance on it as the basis for his argument that the referee was improperly appointed is misplaced.

Pursuant to the clear and unambiguous terms of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-3.1, referees in bar disciplinary proceedings are

designated as agents of the Supreme Court of Florida and "shall have such jurisdiction and powers as are necessary to conduct the proper and speedy disposition of any investigation or cause..." Therefore, an appointed referee is, in effect, a representative of this court rather than of the judicial circuit where the referee normally performs his or her judicial duties. Rule 3-7.6(a) provides that the chief justice of the supreme court shall delegate to the chief judge of a judicial circuit the power to appoint referees for duty in the chief judge's circuit. Venue is the county where the alleged offense occurred, where the accused attorney resides, or where the accused attorney practices law. When there is more than one county involved, the court shall designate the county in which the final hearing will be held. See R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(c). Although the respondent interprets a different meaning from the rule, the bar submits that when the rules are read together in context it becomes clear the intent is that the chief judge will appoint a referee from the chief judge's circuit to hold a final hearing in whichever county venue lies even if the county is in a different judicial circuit than the one where the referee routinely carries out his or her daily judicial functions. It would be senseless for a chief circuit judge to appoint a referee from a different judicial circuit or for a referee, who is an agent of this court, to lack the authority to hold a final hearing in another county or judicial circuit.

The bar would further submit the respondent's argument is moot because at the motion hearing of February 16, 1995, held in the Tenth Judicial Circuit, the respondent not only did not raise the venue issue again, he effectively waived venue (T. 12/16/94 p.p. 42-43). Because he stipulated to the factual allegations of the bar's complaint at the February 16, 1995, motion hearing, the parties and the referee were in agreement no final hearing was necessary and the matter was presented to the referee by written argument (T. 2/16/95 p.p. 29,39). Therefore, the referee was acting within his powers when he issued his report.

#### POINT II

# THE REFEREE CORRECTLY EXERCISED HIS DISCRETION IN CONSIDERING BAR EXHIBIT NUMBER 10.

The respondent is mistaken in his assertion that the parties stipulated to the entire factual basis and all the exhibits the parties would submit. The parties stipulated to some of the The hearing of February 16, 1995, was a motion hearing and was not intended to be a final evidentiary hearing. As matters developed, the need for a live final hearing was obviated by the respondent's stipulation to the factual allegations of the bar's complaint. The only matters in dispute were issues of law and not fact and therefore a "paper" hearing was a better use of judicial economy and represented a substantial savings to the bar and potentially to the respondent in the event he was found guilty. The bar advised the referee that the documentary exhibits were ready for submission but the bar did not have the evidence it had planned to introduce through witness testimony (T. 2/16/95 p. 36). The referee directed the parties to submit written arguments as to law and include their exhibits with the written arguments (T. 2/16/95 p. 40). The exhibits the parties had in their possession at that time were then marked (T. 2/16/95 p.p. 41-43). At no time did the referee say he was closing the evidentiary portion of the

hearing. The referee's statement "Well, gentlemen, if you want to stipulate with the court reporter here - and I want all evidentiary exhibits" concerned his desire to mark those exhibits then available and did not indicate he intended not to accept further exhibits. Clearly, if this had been his intention, the referee would have rejected the bar's submission of B-Ex. 10.

The respondent's arguments that he was denied due process with respect to not being afforded his "right to confrontation" of Dr. Carrera concerning B-Ex. 10 and with respect to the bar's exhibit being in the nature of hearsay, are, the bar submits, without In bar disciplinary proceedings there is no right to confront a witness face to face and hearsay evidence is admissible, The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). Further, an attorney's due process rights are not violated when a referee admits into evidence hearsay evidence, The Florida Bar v. Richardson, 591 So. 2d 908,910, (Fla. 1992). The referee and this court are not bound by the rules of evidence in the quasi-judicial bar disciplinary proceedings and any evidence may be deemed relevant in resolving the factual questions at issue, The Florida Bar v. Jasperson, 625 So. 2d 459, 463 (Fla. 1993). The referee had the discretion to give Dr. Carrera's affidavit the weight he deemed appropriate with respect to judging its credibility versus the

respondent's statement at the February 16, 1995, motion hearing that he mailed the latter "prior to the filing of supplemental pleadings..." (T. 2/16/95 p. 11). It was not until the bar checked with Dr. Carrera concerning the accuracy of the respondent's statement that the bar learned the respondent had served the letter on Dr. Carrera with the summons on March 24, 1994, rather than having mailed it to him on March 7, 1994. Dr. Carrera's assertion was further supported by the respondent's own letter of March 17, 1994, to the New Mexico Sheriff's department enclosing, among other items for service, a letter to Dr. Carrera (B-Ex. 10 A.p. 21). Therefore, even if the respondent had mailed the letter on March 7, 1994, he resent it with the summons and thus when Dr. Carrera received it at that time, he was a litigant in every sense of the word because he was served with the summons and the action had been filed by the respondent in Orange County, Florida, on March 18, 1994 (B-Ex. 8).

The respondent was provided with a copy of B-Ex. 10 when the bar served on him a copy of The Florida Bar Arguments In Support Of Its Case Against The Respondent And Recommendation For Discipline on March 20, 1995. He had ample opportunity to seek a live hearing at that point to either challenge Dr. Carrera's statement or offer rebuttal testimony but chose not to do so. The respondent was

given reasonable notice with respect to this exhibit and reasonable notice is all that is necessary in bar disciplinary proceedings to afford due process, The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So. 2d 178, 183 (Fla. 1993). The respondent had ample opportunity to submit any documentary evidence to the referee the respondent wished for the referee to consider in rebuttal to B-Ex. 10. The respondent did not submit any rebuttal evidence to B-Ex. 10 at the referee level and instead has sought to argue the matter at the appellate level.

#### POINT III

THE REFEREE WAS CORRECT IN FINDING DR. CARRERA WAS A MEMBER OF THE CLASS PROTECTED BY RULE 4-8.4(d).

Although a referee's findings of fact enjoy a presumption of correctness, absent a clear showing otherwise, the referee's legal conclusions are subject to closer scrutiny, The Florida Bar in re Inglis, 471 So. 2d 38, 41 (Fla. 1985). What the respondent seeks to attack is the referee's legal conclusion that Dr. Carrera was a litigant at the time he received the respondent's disparaging letter and thus was a member of the class of persons protected by rule 4-8.4(d). The bar submits that Dr. Carrera was a litigant at the time he received the letter because it was served on him with the summons and therefore the referee's legal conclusion was correct.

Contrary to the respondent's statement at the hearing held on February 16, 1995, that "the letter was sent prior to the filing of supplemental pleadings" (T. 2/16/95 p. 11) and that it was sent during a "period of hiatus between a final judgment and new supplementary proceedings" (T. 2/16/95 p. 11), the verified petition to domesticate the foreign judgment and to modify the judgment of divorce nisi was stamped by the clerk's office as

having been filed on March 18, 1994 (B-Ex 8). The executed return of service in Torres v. Carrera, case number DR-94-3468, shows that Dr. Carrera was served on March 24,1994, in New Mexico, and the return of service was filed on March 31, 1994 (B-Ex. 9 A.p. 13). According to Dr. Carrera, he received the respondent's letter along with the summons. It was among the documents served on him by the Sheriff's department in New Mexico on March 24, 1994 (B-Ex. 4 A. p.p. A6-A7 and B-Ex. 10 A.p. 20). Therefore, at the time Dr. Carrera received the letter, he was a litigant in the support According to B-Ex. 10, the cover letter to the Sheriff's department enclosing, among other things, the letter, was written on March 17, 1994. It was received by the Sheriff's department in New Mexico on March 21, 1994. There is no way to know if the cover letter was mailed the same day as it was signed by the respondent. When the respondent sent the letter to the Sheriff to be served with the summons, he knew at the very least that Dr. Carrera was a prospective litigant because the respondent knew he would be filing the petition very shortly. In fact it was filed the next day, long before Dr. Carrera received the letter. As further evidence that the respondent never intended to mail the letter to the doctor separate from the summons is the absence from the letter of Dr. Carrera's address. A recipient's address is normally included above the salutation line of professional correspondence.

including the letter with the summons, the respondent assured that Dr. Carrera would be a litigant by the time he read the letter. The respondent had to have known that the summons would be served immediately prior to Dr. Carrera having an opportunity to read any of the attached documents, including the letter.

In the context of The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, the word "litigant" includes not only persons or legal entities already involved in actual court litigation but also those reasonably expected to litigate in court. In its opinion ratifying the rule amendment, this court specifically limited the rule's application to "situations involving the practice of law in order to ensure that the First Amendment rights of lawyers are not unduly burdened." See The Florida Bar Re Amendments to Rules, 624 So. 2d 720, 721 (Fla. 1993). The rule is a prohibition against abusive conduct generally. The commentary to the rule states that it applies to any characteristic or status that is not relevant to the proof of any legal or factual issues in dispute. The respondent could have put forward his client's position without engaging in demeaning behavior. It was not necessary to call Dr. Carrera names in order to convince him to settle the dispute out of court, if in fact this is what the respondent intended. The language of the letter appears to be at odds with the respondent's testimony at

the grievance committee hearing (B-Ex. 6 at page 28 ). The respondent testified before the committee that he hoped the letter would cause the doctor to telephone him to discuss the matter and possibly resolve the child support issue without his client, who did not have a lot of money, having to go to court and litigate. Yet in the last paragraph of his letter, the respondent stated "[r] ather than inviting a continuing dialogue, I invite you to direct your responses to our pleadings and resolve this issue in Court." The bar submits such language is not conducive to opening a settlement negotiation dialogue. Rather than simply pointing out to the doctor that his position was erroneous, the respondent's letter, especially in view of the light that it accompanied the summons that was served on him by the Sheriff, served only to put the doctor in a defensive posture.

It is commonly accepted that where a court, in its final order, retains jurisdiction to modify provisions of the final order of dissolution of marriage, a subsequent petition to modify the terms of the final order is merely a supplemental step in the original domestic relations case, Fowler v. Fowler, 112 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959). A court does not automatically retain jurisdiction to modify a final judgment of dissolution of marriage, Diette v. Diette, 471 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). Petitions

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